2009-cA-0002

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Mitchell O. Driskell, III, of counsel for the Appellant, the City of Greenwood, Mississippi, pursuant to Rule 25 of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure, do hereby certify that I have this day mailed, by first class mail, postage prepaid, the original and three (3) copies of the above Brief of the City of Greenwood, Mississippi, Appellant, to the Clerk of the Mississippi Supreme Court. I further certify that I have mailed a true and correct copy of same to the following:

i

Honorable Margaret Carey-McCray Circuit Court Judge Post Office Box 1775 Greenville, Mississippi 38702-1775

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the trial court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law based on the trial court's review of the record are subject to *de novo* review.
- 2. Whether an employee who is off his route and at a location where there is no work to be done is "at the place" of employment establishing the MTCA presumption of course and scope of employment.
- 3. Whether an employee who purposefully facilitates and witnesses sex between a work release inmate and mentally handicapped person is on a personal endeavor or acting within the course and scope of employment..
- 4. Whether an employee who purposefully facilitates and witnesses sex between a work release inmate and mentally handicapped person, and then flees the scene when caught, is committing a crime for the purposes of MTCA immunity.
- 5. Whether the trial evidence which did not contain any medical evidence for post-incident treatment of emotional trauma was insufficient to support a finding of emotional damages.
- 6. Whether the court erred in awarding \$500,000.00, the statutory maximum that could have been awarded to the Appellee under the trial facts where Appellee did not prove any special damages.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE AND COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

The subject lawsuit arises out of an incident that involved Mississippi Department of Corrections inmate Marvin Fray and V.S. on June 28, 2002. (R. 155-56; R.E. 9-10). V.S. is mentally handicapped. (R. 155; R.E. 9). Mr. Fray was on a work release program and assigned to work on a trash truck under the supervision of Glenn Staples, an employee of the City of Greenwood.

1

(R. 155; R.E. 9). On the date in question, Mr. Staples left his trash route and took Mr. Fray to V.S.'s house so the Mr. Fray could proposition V.S. and then watched Mr. Fray have sexual contact with V.S. (R. 155-56; R.E. 9-10).

On August 23, 2003, Appellee filed her Complaint against the City of Greenwood, the Mississippi Department of Corrections and Commissioner Christopher Epps asserting claims governed by the Mississippi Tort Claims Act ("MTCA"). (R. 2, 9; R.E. 41-48). Appellee did not name Mr. Staples as a defendant. (R. 1-9; R.E. 40-48). Appellee alleged that Appellant was vicariously liable for the actions of Mr. Staples and directly liable for negligently hiring, retaining, training and supervising Mr. Staples and also for negligent infliction of emotional distress. (R. 3-7; R.E. 42-46).

Appellant timely responded to the Complaint, denied vicarious liability, raised all of the privileges, defenses and immunities of the MTCA and asserted that it was not liable for the intentional acts of non-parties. (R. 23-31; R.E. 49-57). Under the MTCA, Greenwood is immune from liability for actions of employees if those actions were outside the scope of his employment. Miss. Code Ann. §§ 11-46-5 and 11-46-7. By Order dated July 19, 2005, twenty days before trial, the MDOC and Commissioner Epps were dismissed. (R. 58; R.E. 58).

A bench trial of this matter was held before the Circuit Court of Leflore County on August 8-9, 2005. At the conclusion of trial, the trial court requested submission of Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law from all parties. (Tr. 372; R.E. 214). Approximately eight months after trial, on May 15, 2006, the Administrative Office of Court issued its Notice of Filing Pursuant to M.R.A.P. 15, which established a July 3, 2006 deadline for a decision from the trial court. (Supp.R. 152; R.E. 71). Subsequently, the trial court requested that the court reporter prepare a transcript of the trial. (R. 153; R.E. 225). On September 19, 2006, over thirteen months after trial,

Final Judgment was entered and Findings of Fact and Conclusions of law were made. (R. 154 - 64; R.E. 9-18). The trial court concluded that Glenn Staples was in the course and scope of his employment at the time of his misconduct and that Appellant was not immune under the MTCA.² (R. 158-63; R.E. 12-15). The trial court further concluded that Appellee was entitled to an award of damages exactly equal to the statutory limit of liability under the MTCA, \$500,000.00. (R. 163-64; R.E. 17-18).

Appellant filed its Motion to Alter or Amend Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment, Motion for New Trial and Motion for Relief from Judgment on September 26, 2006. (R. 166, 186; R.E. 19, 39). More than two years later, on November 25, 2008, the Administrative Office of Courts provided its Notice of Filing Pursuant to M.R.A.P. 15 advising that a decision on the posttrial motion was overdue. (R. 350; R.E. 68). By order dated December 17, 2008, the trial Court denied Appellant's post-trial motion without substantive discussion of the issues presented. (R. 352; R.E. 8). Appellant's Notice of Appeal was timely filed on December 31, 2008. (R. 353-54; R.E. 69-70). Appellee did not cross appeal any issues.

B. <u>STATEMENT OF FACTS</u>

2

At all relevant times, Appellant, participated in the Mississippi Department of Correction's work release program (the Community Work Center, or CWC, program). (Tr. 15-16, 94; R.E. 94-95, 119). Under the CWC program, qualified inmates work for the participating entities. (Tr. 15-16, 113; R.E. 94-95, 127). The MDOC has strict guidelines for determining which inmates are eligible to work in the program, making sure that only non-violent offenders with comparatively little time remaining on their sentences are allowed to participate. (Tr. 15, 24-25, 34, 112, Exhibit P-4; R.E.

Appellee offered no evidence of direct negligence on the part of the Appellant and the trial court's judgment was based solely on the theory of vicarious liability.

94, 98-99, 103, 126, 215-218). Inmates with a history of violent crimes, including sexual offenses, are not allowed to participate. (*Id.*). On June 28, 2002, MDOC inmates Marvin Fray and Isaac Morgan were assigned to work at Appellant's Public Works Department under the supervision of Glenn Staples. (Tr.39, 93; R.E. 105, 118). Both inmates were properly screened and were qualified to participate in the CWC program. (Tr. 17; R.E. 96).

Appellant required all employees who supervised CWC inmates to be oriented/trained by the CWC on inmate supervision on a yearly basis. (Tr. 17, 41, 96, 113; R.E. 96, 106, 120, 127). Glenn Staples was properly trained according to the CWC guidelines. (Tr. 16-18, 25, 41, 96, 113; R.E. 95-97, 99, 106, 120, 127). In fact, Mr. Staples was trained by the CWC two months prior to the subject incident. (Tr. 25, 41; R.E. 99, 106). Lieutenant Barbara Allen and Commander Walter McKinney of the MDOC each testified that Glenn Staples was trained on all of the CWC guidelines and understood his responsibilities with regard to the supervision of inmates. (Tr. 26, 41-42; R.E. 100, 106-107). Mr. Staples acknowledged this training by signing the Work Supervisor Guidelines for Working CWC Inmates on April 23, 2002. (Tr. 25; R.E. 99). Appellee offered no evidence of any pre-incident acts or omissions of Glenn Staples pertaining to the supervision of inmates, or, for that matter, anything else. Appellant had never received any complaints regarding the supervision of inmates by Glenn Staples prior to the subject incident, a fact stipulated by Appellee prior to trial. (R. 63; R.E. 62).

Appellee also failed to provide any evidence that Appellant negligently supervised either Staples or anyone else in this case. The uncontradicted evidence establishes that all Greenwood employees are required to attend, and Glenn Staples did attend, CWC training regarding the proper supervision guidelines. (Tr. 16-18, 25, 41, 96, 113; R.E. 95-97, 99, 106, 120, 127). Appellee produced no evidence that there has ever been any other instance in which an inmate assigned to work with Appellant has had improper contact with the public, much less any sexual contact with the public. After this incident, Commander McKinney advised Appellant, by letter dated July 3, 2002, that Glenn Staples was no longer allowed to participate in the CWC program. (Tr. 37, Exhibit P-8; R.E. 104, 219). Importantly, however, Commander McKinney expressed no concern over Appellant's continued participation in the CWC program, and Appellant, with the blessing of MDOC, continued to participate in the CWC program. (Tr. 43-44, Exhibit P-8; R.E. 108-109, 219).

On the morning of June 28, 2002, Glenn Staples and the two inmates, while off of their designated trash pick-up route, passed by a house on Fulton Street and noticed a lady sitting on the porch of one of the houses. (Tr. 43, 85, 115-16, 136, 162; R.E. 108, 114, 128-29, 137, 146). That lady would later be identified as V.S., who is mentally handicapped. (R. 63; R.E. 62). After passing by the house, Glenn Staples and the inmates discussed V.S. and what the inmates would do with her. (Tr. 85; R.E. 114). Mr. Staples then returned to Fulton Street for the purpose of allowing the inmates to proposition V.S. and possibly engage in sexual activity with her. (Tr. 26, 27, 31, 67, 75, 84-86; R.E. 100, 101, 102, 110, 111, 113-15).

Fulton Street was not on Mr. Staples trash collection route. (Tr. 43, 136; R.E. 108, 137). Deborah Holland, V.S.'s sister who owns the house on Fulton Street where V.S. was sitting on the porch, testified that Louis O'Neal, a relative, picks up trash for the Appellant on Fulton Street, not Glenn Staples. (Tr. 136; R.E. 137). Commander Walter McKinney testified that his investigation revealed that Fulton Street was not on Mr. Staples' trash collection route. (Tr. 43; R.E. 108).

Marvin Fray testified that there was no trash to pick up where they stopped on Fulton Street. (Tr. 162; R.E. 146). There was simply no work to be done at that location. (*Id.*). Deborah Holland, V.S.'s sister, also testified that there was no trash to pick up on Fulton Street in the area where Mr. Staples stopped. (Tr. 136; R.E. 137). Investigations by Detective Melvin Andrews of the Greenwood Police Department and Bennie Herring, director of the Public Works Department, confirmed the absence of trash on Fulton Street and that Mr. Staples and the inmates were not at that location for any work-related purpose. (Tr. 84-86, 115-117; R.E. 113-15, 128-30). It is undisputed that there was no trash to be picked up on Fulton Street, Mr. Staples was not stopped on Fulton Street for any conceivable work-related purpose, and Appellant did not benefit in any way from the activities of Mr. Staples and the inmates. (Tr. 116-117; R.E. 129-30).

On the morning of the incident, Deborah Holland stepped out of her Fulton Street house to take out the garbage and saw V.S. and Mr. Fray standing between two houses. (Tr. 129, 135; R.E. 133, 136). Mr. Fray ran back to the truck where Mr. Staples was sitting in the cab. (Tr. 129, 136; R.E. 133, 137). As Ms. Holland approached the truck, she could see that Staples was looking between the two houses, watching Mr. Fray and V.S. (Tr. 130, 136; R.E. 134, 137). As Ms. Holland got closer, Mr. Staples drove away. (*Id.*). Detective Andrews' investigation revealed that Glenn Staples was sitting in the truck watching Mr. Fray have sex with V.S. (Tr. 67, 75-76, Exhibit P-18; R.E. 110-12, 224). Mr. Staples' statements made to the Greenwood Police Department confirm that he did in fact witness the sexual activity and did nothing to stop it or report it. (*Id.*).

After Mr. Staples fled from the scene, Ms. Holland and V.S. went to the "City Barn" to report the incident. (Tr. 130; R.E. 134). Upon notification, Bennie Herring called all trucks back to the barn. (Tr. 97; R.E. 121). Mr. Staples and the inmates were identified by Ms. Holland. (Tr. 98; R.E. 122). Detective Andrews investigated the incident and found that Glenn Staples was not on his normal trash collection route, that there was no trash to pick up or any other work-related activity to perform on Fulton Street, that Glenn Staples intentionally took the inmates to Fulton Street and that he watched Mr. Fray have sexual contact with V.S. (Tr. 67, 75-76, 84-86; R.E. 110-15). Marvin Fray was charged with, and later pled guilty to, sexual battery, penetration of a person with a defective mind in violation of Miss. Code Ann. section 97-3-95(1)(b). (Tr. 157; R.E. 145).

On the date of the incident and after Ms. Holland made her allegations against Mr. Staples and the inmates, Bennie Herring suspended Glenn Staples from his employment for suspicion of violating the policies and procedures of the Appellant. (Tr. 99; R.E. 123). Mr. Herring's investigation of the allegations against Mr. Staples confirmed the findings set forth in Detective Andrews' investigation, which revealed that there was no trash to pick up or any other work-related activity to preform on Fulton Street, that Glenn Staples intentionally took the inmates to Fulton Street and that he watched Mr. Fray have sexual contact with V.S. (Tr. 102, 115-117, Exhibit P-9; R.E. 124, 128-30, 220-23). Mr. Staples' employment was subsequently terminated. (Tr. 103; R.E. 125).

Turning to damages, V.S. was the victim of two prior events where she was held against her will by men. In early 1999, three years before the encounter with Marvin Fray, an incident occurred wherein V.S. was kidnaped by a man and spent the night, or possibly several nights, with him. (Tr. 254, 267; R.E. 175, 185). In 2001, V.S. was held in a house by a man until the police came and forcibly rescued her. (Tr. 267; R.E. 185). One of these incidents, it is unclear which one, involved the threat of violence with a knife. (Tr. 268; R.E. 186). V.S. describes these events as "worser" than the incident involving Marvin Fray. (*Id.*). V.S. previously suffered from and continues to suffer from what she describes as "visions" from these two traumatic events. (Tr. 256; R.E. 176). In addition to these instances of violent coercion, medical records prior to the incident reveal one instance where V.S. voluntarily ran away from home and spent the night with a man. (Tr. 258; R.E. 177).

7

In 1996 and again in 2002, V.S. was examined by the Hudspeth mental retardation facility in order to determine V.S.'s level of retardation. (Tr. 199; R.E. 157). Appellee's designated expert, Dr. Wood Hiatt, reviewed these examination records and agreed with the findings. (Tr. 204; R.E. 159). In 1999, V.S. was found be in the "mild" mental retardation category. (Tr. 246; R.E. 171). In 2002, prior to the Marvin Fray incident, V.S. had regressed and was found to be in the "moderate" mental retardation category. (*Id.*). Pre-incident records from the Region IV Medical Center's Lifehelp program, a state funded program providing services for the mentally handicapped, indicate that V.S. "will probably deteriorate to the point that she needs placement back at the State Hospital." (Tr. 247-48; R.E. 172-73).

Contrary to the medical records, Patricia Westbrook, V.S.'s sister and legal guardian, testified that she was not regressing, was making improvement and trying to be more independent prior to the Marvin Fray incident. (Tr. 182; R.E. 152).

After going to the City Barn on the day of the accident, V.S. was taken to the emergency room of the Greenwood-Lefore Hospital. (Tr. 131; R.E. 135). The hospital records indicate "no injuries" and show normal heart rate, skin color, temperature and moisture. (Tr. 322-23; R.E. 200-01). The records did not indicate any sign of physical arousal, a diagnostic criteria for Post Traumatic Stress Disorder. (Tr. 323-24; R.E. 201-02). Deborah Holland, the only family member to see V.S. after the accident and before medical examination, testified that V.S. was not crying or screaming at any time and had no visible injuries. (Tr. 137; R.E. 138). The inmates involved in the incident did not display any signs of physical altercation. (Tr. 88, 118; R.E. 117, 131).

After examination at the hospital, V.S. was taken to the police station and interviewed three times by Detective Andrews, who spend a good deal of time with V.S. that morning. (Tr. 87-88; R.E. 116-17). Detective Andrews testified that V.S. did not appear to be in any physical duress and

did not appear to be anxious, nervous, upset, embarrassed or guilty. (*Id.*). She was not having shortness of breath or any other breathing trouble. (*Id.*). Family members Cario Westbrook, Patricia Westbrook and Lawrence McCall testified that, on the date of the incident, V.S. was withdrawn and less talkative than usual and "held her head down." (Tr. 149, 166-67, 180; R.E. 144, 147-48, 150).

After the incident, V.S. lived with her sister Deborah Holland for several months. (Tr. 137;

R.E. 138). Ms. Holland testified at trial as follows:

- Q. And you were asked some questions about some things that were said in your deposition, and you testified that you spent some time with [V.S.] after the rape. Do you think [V.S.] was hurt by the rape?
- A. She don't understand.
- Q. Ms. Holland, from your perspective on what you observed with [V.S.] after the rape, do you think she was affected by it?
- A. I don't think she understands.

(Tr. 140-41; R.E. 141-42). Two weeks after the incident, V.S. was treated at the Greenwood Comprehensive Medical Clinic. (Tr. 273, 323-24; R.E. 190, 201-02). Those records also do not show any sign of physical arousal and indicate normal blood pressure and pulse. (Tr. 232, 323-24; R.E. 167, 201-02). The Marvin Fray incident and any resulting physical and emotional or behavioral changes are not mentioned in those records. (Tr. 273, 323-24; R.E. 190, 201-02).

V.S. continued to participate in the Lifehelp work program after the Marvin Fray encounter and returned to Lifehelp only a few days after the incident. (Tr. 138, 185; R.E. 139, 153). V.S.'s primary physician for mental issues at the time was Dr. Brenda Hines, who treated V.S. at Lifehelp. (Tr. 186; R.E. 154). V.S. has received treatment at Lifehelp ever since the subject incident. (Tr. 325; R.E. 203). The Notice of Claim was dated July 16, 2002, indicating that an attorney was hired and claim was made prior to or on that date. (Supp.R. 350-51; R.E. 72-73). In October, 2002, Ms. Westbrook accompanied V.S. to her appointment with Dr. Hines and reported concerns about V.S.'s vulnerability. (Tr. 272; R.E. 189). Dr. Hines noted that V.S. did not seem "too terribly upset" about the incident. (*Id.*). Subsequent Lifehelp records, prepared by her treating physicians, fail to diagnose depression. (Tr. 276-78; R.E. 191-93). There is no reference to any daytime bladder problems in the Lifehelp records. (Tr. 280-81; R.E. 194-95). According to the Lifehelp records, there was never any report of bowel control problems. (Tr. 281; R.E. 195). There is no reference to any sleep cycle disturbance in any of the Lifehelp records, records prepared by V.S.'s mental health professionals. (Tr. 282; R.E. 196).

The post-incident medical records contain no evidence of emotional disturbance and no complaints of emotional trauma. (Tr. 324; R.E. 202). The Lifehelp records contain no evidence of any behavioral changes whatsoever. (Tr. 327-28; R.E. 205-06). Dr. Hines never documented any symptoms of PTSD and never made a diagnosis of PTSD. (Tr. 329; 207). Lifehelp records from 2004 indicate that V.S. was currently rating as highly as possible in every area of development. (Tr. 280; R.E. 194).

Contrary to the medical records, Patricia and Cario Westbook testified that V.S. was withdrawn emotionally and stopped trying to progress since the incident. (Tr. 145, 182, 188; R.E. 143, 152, 156). They further testified that V.S. has daytime bladder accidents and increased nighttime accidents. (Tr. 145, 181; R.E. 143, 151). V.S. had bladder problems prior to the incident. (Tr. 145; R.E. 143). Ms. Westbrook testified that V.S. has bowel control problems now as well. (Tr. 181; R.E. 151). Ms. Westbrook, Cario Westbrook and Lawrence McCall all testified that V.S. is less talkative since the incident. (T 149, 169, 188; R.E. 144, 149, 156). None of these conditions are documented in the medical records, except for the pre-existing nighttime bladder problems. (Tr. 280-82, 327-28; R.E. 194-96, 205-06).

As set forth above, Deborah Holland testified at trial that V.S. was not affected by the incident. (Tr. 138, 141, 328; R.E. 139, 142, 206). Ms. Holland further testified that she discussed

the incident with Ms. Pitts at Lifehelp who said the V.S. did not understand what happened. (Tr. 139; R.E. 140). Lawrence McCall, a brother who lives in the same house as V.S., testified that, besides being less talkative, V.S. has exhibited no other behavioral changes since the incident. (Tr. 169, 286; R.E. 169, 197). Ms. Westbrook testified that V.S.'s emotional withdrawal was caused by increased supervision, not the incident itself. (Tr. 181; R.E. 151).

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