IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CITY OF GREENWOOD, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2009-TS-00024

V. S. By and Through Her Next Friend, PATRICIA WESTBROOK

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LEFLORE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

**Carlton W. Reeves (MSB [REDACTED])
P. O. Box 22725
Jackson, MS 39225-2725
(601) 354-2121**

ATTORNEY FOR PATRICIA WESTBROOK

Of Counsel:

**PIGOTT REEVES JOHNSON, P.A.
775 North Congress Street
Post Office Box 22725
Jackson, Mississippi 3922502725
(601) 354-2121**

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CITY OF GREENWOOD, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2009-TS-00024

V. S. By and Through Her Next Friend, PATRICIA WESTBROOK

APPELLEE

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

¹⁰Incidentally, the City also submitted proposed finding of facts and conclusions of law. Supp. Vol. 1, T. 40-70; R. E. 6. Not being satisfied with one submission, the City filed two supplemental proposed findings. *Id.* at 94-98; 109-112; R. E. 8; R. E. 10.

consisted of ten pages. And, all the City can point to is **ONE** paragraph! Amazingly, it uses that ONE paragraph to justify its assertion that the Court's findings are entitled to no weight.

Granted, this court has cautioned against the verbatim adoption of a party's proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law, see, *Brooks v. Brooks*, 652 So.2d 1113, 1118 (Miss. 1995), but it has not banned the practice. See, *Rice Researchers, Inc. v. Hiter*, 512 So.2d, 1266 (Miss. 1987) (it is within the trial court's discretion to adopt the findings of fact and conclusions of law submitted by the party verbatim). Moreover, the fact that a court adopts a party's findings of fact and conclusions of law verbatim does not necessarily lead to the conclusion that the trial court has committed reversible error. *City of Jackson v. Presley*, 2009 WL 3823183, at *3 (¶ 11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2010). Consequently, even if the trial court adopted the findings verbatim, which it did not, reversal is not automatic as the City suggests.

Turning to the case *sub judice*, can the City really support its assertion that the plaintiff's proposed findings were adopted verbatim? No, it can not. Verbatim is defined as: "In the exact words; word for word." Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary, 2010 Merriam-Webster Online 14 March, 2010, <http://www.merriam_webster.com/dictionary/verbatim>. One can clearly see that the Opinion and Order authored by the trial court is significantly different from the proposed findings submitted by V.S.. It is not verbatim. Apparently, the City wants the Court to do away with Miss. R. Civ. P. 16(k) and forbid parties from submitting proposed findings - the value of which were explained in *Mississippi Dept. of Transportation v. Johnson*, 873 So.2d 108, 111, n.4 (Miss. 2004) and *Delta Regional Med. Center v. Venton*, 964 So.2d 500, 504 (¶ 7) (Miss. 2007).

Even were this Court to find the trial court's Opinion and Order is a verbatim recitation of what V. S. submitted, or even substantially verbatim, a *de novo* review of the case as the City

advocates would still be inappropriate. At most, this Court would have to analyze the findings “with greater care, and the evidence is subjected to heightened scrutiny.” *Brannon*, 943 So.2d at 59 (§ 9). *See also, City of Jackson v. Spann*, 4 So.3d 1029, 1032 (§ 9) (Miss. 2009) (where trial judge adopts a party’s proposed findings and conclusion verbatim and with minimal and superficial editing, the deference afforded the trial judge is lessened).

After its thoughtful analysis of the facts, findings and the law, the trial court here merely lifted **ONE** paragraph from plaintiff’s proposed findings- agreeing that the evidence supported plaintiff’s claim for damages in the amount of \$500,000. This alone does not justify some relaxed standard of review or deference. Moreover, it does not require some heightened scrutiny, and it certainly does not constitute reversible error.

Assuming a lesser standard of review is appropriate in this situation, for sure, on these facts, *de novo* review is not justified. This is so because *de novo* review is not even justified in instances where the trial judge adopts some of the party’s sentences, or even portions of sentences and phrases, so long as the court’s findings are its own. *Phillips v. Mississippi Dept. of Public Safety*, 978 So.2d 656, 660 (§ 15) (Miss. 2008). Trial judges are permitted to adopt portions of a parties’ proposed findings and where there have been alterations to that which was submitted suggests that the “trial court gave the case careful review and formed its own opinion.” *Pounders*, 970 So.2d at 145 (§ 12). There is no question that the trial judge in this case gave careful review of the evidence and the parties’ multiple submissions and then wrote her own opinion. Like the judge in *Simpson v. Pickens*, 761 So.2d 855, (Miss. 2000), the trial court

saw [the] witnesses testify. Not only did she have the benefit of their words, she alone among the judiciary observed their manner and demeanor. She was there on the scene. She smelled the smoke of battle. She sensed the interpersonal dynamic

between the lawyers, the witnesses, and herself. These are indispensable. . . .

Id. (§ 14) at 859. The standard of review to apply, therefore, is manifest error/substantial evidence. *Id.*, citing *City of Greenville v. Jones*, 925 So.2d 106, 109 (Miss. 2006). In order to disturb these findings this Court must find that the findings are clearly erroneous - something which this Court cannot do.

B. The City of Greenwood Is Not Entitled to a New Trial

The City challenges the verdict raising only three arguments. First, it claims that it cannot be held liable because Glenn Staples was not acting within the course and scope of his employment. *See*, Brief of Appellant, at 19-31. Second, it claims that Staples was not acting within the course and scope of his employment because Staples' conduct constituted a criminal offense. *See, id.*, at 31-33. And, thirdly, the City says that the award of damages was not supported by the evidence. Apparently, the City has abandoned its argument that the claims are barred by the discretionary function exception to MTCA Vol. 2, at T. 178-79; R. E. 13. It takes no exception to the trial court's determination:

Staples did not have the luxury or choice of not keeping an eye on Fray. He did not have the luxury of allowing Fray to make contact with V. S., a free world person. He had no discretion not to do his job. . . Staples neither had the discretion to violate the rules that had been put in place by the Department of Corrections and used by the City and its employees to fulfill the City's obligation under the program nor did he have the right to fail to do his job using at least ordinary care. . . . Staples' duty to supervise the inmates pursuant to MDOC guidelines which mandate specific actions to safeguard the public safety was not discretionary.

Vol. 2, T. 162-163; R. E. 12.¹¹

¹¹ In its Second Supplemental Proposed Findings, the City raised for the first time the discretionary function exception argument, see, Supplemental Vol. 1, T. 109-112; R. E. 10, to which V. S. responded, Vol. 2, T. 253-58; R. E. 11. It clearly has now waived that argument having not raised the issue in its brief. *Misso v. Oliver*, 666 So.2d 1366, 1369-70 (Miss. 1996).

Having abandoned the discretionary function exception argument, the City focuses on one general argument, to-wit: Glenn Staples was not acting within the course and scope of employment. As will be discussed below this Court must affirm the judgment.

1. The City waived any argument that Staples was acting outside the course and scope of his employment.

The City contends that its employee, Glen Staples, was acting outside the course and scope of his employment. The City, however, waived any such argument when it raised the issue for the very first time on its argument for directed verdict pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. 41(b). Vol. 5, T. 297-300; Vol. 6, 301-302, 311-14; R. E. 4.

The City is barred from raising that defense. It did not invoke the defense in its Answer. See, Vol. 1, T. 23-30; R.E.2. In fact, the City was quite clear and specific about the defenses to the claims raised in the Complaint. In its Fourth Defense, the City proclaimed that the allegations of the Complaint were “barred by Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9(1)(d)(e)(m)(n) and (s).” *Id.* These provisions of the act do not speak to the course and scope issue which the City raised for first time on the Motion for Directed Verdict. Quite to the contrary. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9(1), provides a list of instances where a governmental entity is not liable when the employee **is acting within the course and scope of employment**. Why even invoke these exemptions when the City contends that Staple was acting outside the course and scope of his employment? Moreover, such an assertion was also absent from the Pretrial Order, see, Vol. 1, T. 60-68; R. E. 3, which controlled the course of

(Court has no obligation to consider assignment unaddressed in the party’s submitted brief). However, even if the court were to consider the argument, it must find that the trial court was correct. *MS Dept. of Human Services v. S. W.*, 974 So.2d 253, 258-59 (¶ 11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (employee has no choice but to follow agency policies and regulations that prescribe a course of action for him to follow).

the trial. See, Miss.R.Civ.P. 16. There was not one mention that Staples was acting outside of the course and scope of his employment. In fact, in its own version of the concise summary of the facts in the pre-trial order, the City alleged that “Marvin Fray and Isaac Morgan were assigned to work at the City of Greenwood’s Public Works Department.” Vol. 1, T. 62; R. E. 3. Additionally, the parties stipulated to the following facts including:

- d. On June 28, 2002, Marvin Fray was in the custody of the MDOC and assigned to work at the City of Greenwood in the Public Works Department.
- e. On June 28, 2002, Fray was assigned to work **under the direct supervision** of Glen Staples, an employee of the City of Greenwood.
- f. Staples had taken the orientation course hosted by the MDOC and was made aware of his duties and responsibilities with respect to the supervision of any inmate under his supervision.

Id. (Emphasis added).

The City was barred from springing that new theory in the middle of trial during its motion for directed verdict and subsequently urging it in its Proposed Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law. *Hertz Commercial Leasing Division v. Morrison*, 567 So.2d 832, 837 (Miss. 1990). *Cf. Leleck v. Triple G Express*, 2002 WL 441337 (E. D. La. 2002), at *2-3, *citing, Zielinski v. Philadelphia Piers, Inc.*, 139 F.Supp. 408 (E. D. Pa. 1956) (equity bars city from making this belated assertion). *See also*, Miss.R.Civ.P. 8(c) (in responding to an initial pleading a party shall set forth its affirmative defenses). The City was indeed obligated to raise the very essential fact that it was alleging that its employee, Glen Staples, was not acting within the course and scope of his employment. See *McLemore v. McLemore*, 173 Miss. 765, 163 So. 500, 501 (Miss. 1935)(“The ultimate essential facts upon which any cause of action, **or affirmative defense** thereto, is based **must be averred**. . .”)(emphasis added). If the City was contending, prior to the day of trial, that Staples was not acting

within the course and scope of his employment when he failed to properly supervise inmate Fray, it should have been more specific in raising its defenses. For example, the City could have specifically invoked the immunity provision set forth under Miss. Code Ann. ¶ 11-46-7(2), which specifically provides that governmental entity could not be held liable or considered to have waived immunity for “any conduct of its employee if the employee’s conduct constituted . . . any criminal offense.”

The City should have even asserted this defense during the course of discovery, but it did not. Certainly, the absolute latest opportunity to have raised the contention would have been in the Pre-trial Order. But even there, the City made no mention that Staples was acting outside of the course and scope of his employment. Equally important is that the City never even denied that Staples was acting within the scope and course of his employment. In its Answer, for example, the City admitted that on the day that V. S. was raped, “the public works department of the City of Greenwood was collecting trash throughout the City, [and] included on the team of workers was Marvin Fray, an inmate in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. Vol. 1, 26, ¶ 7; R.E. 2. Furthermore, the City admitted that Staples “was responsible for the on-site supervision of convict Marvin Fray.” *Id.* at ¶ 9.¹² The City, therefore, has waived its right to even raise the argument that Staples was acting outside the course and scope of employment.

¹² Most interestingly, in ¶ 9 of the Complaint, V.S. alleged as follows: “During the morning hours of June 28, 2002, while collecting trash for the City of Greenwood, Marvin Fray assaulted, attacked, sodomized and raped plaintiff V.S. Public Works employee Glen Staples was **responsible for the on-site supervision of convict Marvin Fray**, and took no action to stop Marvin Fray even though he witnessed the events.” (Emphasis added). While denying the first sentence (e.g., that Fray assaulted V.S.), the City admitted that Staples was responsible for the on-site supervision of Fray.

2. Assuming the City has not waived the argument, the trial court's finding that Staples was acting within the course and scope of employment must be affirmed.

a. There is a rebuttable presumption that Staples was acting within the course and scope of his employment.

Notwithstanding the City's obvious failure to raise the defense that Staples was acting outside the course and scope of his employment, the Court's decision that Staples was acting within the course and scope of employment is supported by the evidence. Staples was not doing his job, which was to supervise Fray and Morgan, the two inmates assigned to him. "He," as the trial court noted, "was expected to pay attention to the inmates, and he was required to prevent them from acting outside the guidelines for inmate behavior." Vol. 2, T. 160; R. E. 12. *See also, id.* at 158-59; R.E. 12 ("Staples was acting within the course and scope of his employment- - supervising the inmates as they were out picking up trash at or near Fulton Street in Greenwood, Mississippi and when the assault in this case occurred."). The City of Greenwood was responsible for seeing to it that Fray performed his duties, and it is uncontradicted that Staples did not do his job. Furthermore, as the trial court noted:

[w]hen contesting Staples' application for unemployment compensation, the City also advised the Mississippi Employment Security Commission (MESC) that Staples was discharged because he violated several City policies when an inmate in his charge, committed a crime. **There was absolutely no indication that the City thought that Staples was acting outside the course and scope of his employment.**

Id. (Emphasis added). *See also*, Separate Answer and Defenses of the City of Greenwood, at ¶¶ 7 and 9, Vol. 1, at 12-13; R.E. 2 (admitting that Fray was on the team of workers responsible for collecting trash throughout the City of Greenwood and that Staples was responsible for his on-site supervision). Staples was acting within the course and scope of his employment. He was

responsible for making sure trash was picked up within the city. Fray and Morgan were responsible for picking up the trash. Staples was responsible for driving the knuckle boom truck AND he was “specifically assigned the task of supervising Fray and Morgan.” Vol. 2, T. 160; R.E. 12.

There is a rebuttable presumption that Staples was acting within the scope and course of employment, and the City has the burden to overcome that presumption. *Singley v. Smith*, 844 So.2d 448, 452 (¶ 15) (Miss. 2003). Overcoming the presumption is a high standard because as this Court has noted:

Under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act it is **rebuttably presumed** that when an employee is covered by that Act, **ANY ACT or OMISSION within the time and in the place of such employment** is to be considered to be within the course and scope of such employment.

Id. at 452 (¶ 18) (emphasis added). The trial court did what it was supposed to do. It looked at the totality of the circumstances and examined the nature of the wrongful act (omission); the employment character; and the time and place where the act occurred. *Id.*, citing *Horton v. Jones*, 208 Miss. 257, 44 So.3d 397 (1950). “In order for the [employer] to escape liability, it must be shown that the [employee] when the wrongful act was committed, had abandoned his employment and gone about some purpose of his own, not incident to his employment.” *Id.* at 453, quoting *Horton*, 44 So.2d at 399 (citing *Loper v. Yazoo and M.V. R. Co.*, 166 Miss. 79, 145 So. 743 (1933); *Barmore v. Vicksburg, S. and P. Ry.*, 85 Miss. 426, 38 So. 210 (1905)). The City failed to make this showing.

There is no question that Staples was doing his job. He reported to the City Barn, received his instructions with respect to what tasks he was to perform, and two inmates were assigned to assist him in completing those tasks. The City dispatched them in the City vehicle around 6:55 a.m. en

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